# PHENOTYPIC AND GENOTYPIC VARIABILITY STUDIES ON SOME RICE GENOTYPES IN LOW LAND ECOLOGY OF NIGERSTATE, NIGERIA

BY

ABDULKADIR, Amina Abugi MTech/SAAT/2016/6658

DEPARTMENT OF CROP PRODUCTION FEDERAL UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY MINNA

OCTOBER, 2019

# PHENOTYPIC AND GENOTYPIC VARIABILITY STUDIES ON SOME RICE GENOTYPES IN LOW LAND ECOLOGY OF NIGER STATE, NIGERIA

BY

ABDULKADIR, Amina Abugi MTech/SAAT/2016/6658

# THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE POSTGRADUATE SCHOOL, FEDERAL UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY, MINNA, NIGERIA IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AWARD OF THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF TECHNOLOGY IN CROP PRODUCTION

OCTOBER, 2019

# ABSTRACT

Variability has been known as a tool for any crop improvement programme. Yield improvement can be ascertained if there is enough variability existing in a population. Therefore, this study was conducted to asses morpho-agronomic variations in the lowland rice genotypes in an Alpha lattice design with three replications. The experiment was conducted at National Cereals Research Institute Badeggi and Edozhigi in 2017. Parameters such as Days to 50 % flowering, tiller number, panicle number, panicle length, panicle exertion, plant height, panicle weight and grain vield were collected. The result showed that there exists significant variability amongst the genotypes in all the parameters studied, except panicle weight. In all the yield components studied, the phenotypic coefficient was higher than the genotypic coefficient of variation. Days to 50 % flowering had high heritability (83.63). Association study revealed that positive correlation existed among some of the yield components and some of them were significant such as association between panicle number with panicle length (0.295\*). Plant height (0.1506) had the highest direct contribution to the yield and the residual effect for the path analysis was a positive value (0.0291). Principal component analysis partitioned the variability into eight principal components, days to 50 % flowering (0.61) contributed highest variability in the first principal component. Five major cluster groups were identified at cophenetic percentage of 0.578. This investigation therefore, recommends that FARO 15, FARO 17, FARO 24 and Waluye which out yielded the standard checks can be used for further rice improvement programmes.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Title P	age	i
Declar	ation	ii
Certifi	cation	iii
Dedica	tion	iv
Ackno	wledgements	v
Abstra	ct	vi
Table of	of Contents	vii
List of	Tables	х
СНАР	TER ONE	
1.0	Introduction	1
1.1	Background of Study	1
1.2	Statement of the Research Problem	3
1.3	Justification of the Study	4
1.4	Aim and Objectives of the Study	4
СНАР	TER TWO	
2.0	LITERATURE REVIEW	6
2.1	Origin and Distribution of Rice	6
2.2	The History of Rice in West Africa	7
2.3	Rice Improvement in Nigeria	9
2.4	Climatic Requirement of Rice	9
2.5	Morpho-agronomic Characteristics of Rice	10

2.5.1	Panicle number and length	10
2.5.2	Tiller number	11
2.5.3	Panicle weight	12
2.5.4	Days to 50 % flowering	12
2.5.5	Plant height	12
2.6	Rice Cultivation	12
2.7	Genetic Variability Studies in Rice	16
2.8	Economic Importance of Rice	19
CHAP	TER THREE	
3.0	MATERILAS AND METHODS	21
3.1	Experimental Location	21
3.2	Experimental Materials	21
3.3	Experimental Design and Layout	21
3.4	Cultural Practices	23
3.4.1	Tillage operations	23
3.4.2	Nursery practices	23
3.4.3	Transplanting	23
3.4.4	Weeding	23
3.4.5	Fertilizer application	23
3.4.6	Harvesting	24
3.4.7	Threshing	24
3.4.8	Winnowing	24
3.5	Data Collection	24

# **CHAPTER FOUR**

4.0	RESULTS	26
4.1	Mean Square for Eight Agronomic Traits of Fifty Lowland Rice	
	Evaluated	26
4.2	Mean Values for Plant height, Number of Tillers and Panicle Length	28
4.3	Mean values for Panicle Number, Panicle Exertion and Panicle	
	Weight	28
4.4	Mean Values for Days to Fifty Percent Flowering, Grain Yield and	
	Percentage Grain Yield	31
4.5	Genetic Parameters for Eight Agronomic Traits of Fifty Lowland	
	Rice Cultivars Evaluated	33
4.6	Principal Components for Eight Agronomic Traits of Fifty Lowland	
	Rice Cultivars Evaluated	35
4.7	Genotypic Correlation Coefficient for Eight Agronomic Traits of	
	Fifty Lowland Rice Cultivars Evaluated	35
4.8	Genotypic Path Coefficients for Eight Agronomic Traits of Fifty	
	Lowland Rice Cultivars Evaluated	38
4.9	Cluster Analysis of Morphological Traits for Grain Yield	38
СНАР	TER FIVE	
5.0	DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	41
5.1	Discussion	41
5.2	Conclusion	44

25

# REFERENCES

45

46

# LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
4.1	Mean square for eight agronomic traits of fifty lowland rice	
	evaluated	27
4.2	Mean values for plant height, number of tillers and panicle	
	length	29
4.3`	Mean values for panicle number, panicle exertion and panicle	
	Weight	30
4.4	Mean values for days to fifty percent flowering, grain yield	
	and percentage grain yield advantage over a known check	32
4.5	Genetic parameters for eight agronomic traits of fifty lowland	
	rice cultivars evaluated	34
4.6	Principal components for eight agronomic traits of fifty	
	lowland rice cultivars evaluated	36
4.7	Genotypic correlation coefficient for eight agronomic traits of	
	fifty lowland rice cultivars evaluated	37

4.8	Genotypic path coefficients for eight agronomic traits of fifty	
	lowland rice cultivars evaluated	39
4.9	Membership performance summary of lowland rice cultivars	
	in five cluster groups	40

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

# 1.0 INTRODUCTION

# **1.1** Background to the Study

Rice, *Oryza sativa* (2n = 24) belongs to the family *poceae* and sub family *Oryzoidae* and is consumed by more than fifty percent of the world's population especially in developing countries. The third highest cereal produced is rice after wheat and maize (FAO, 2012). India has the largest area under rice cultivation in the world and ranks second in production (Anonymous, 2013). Rice is one of the significant cereal commodities for the world's population. (Lopez and Joseph, 2008).

It has shaped the culture, diets and economy of thousand of millions of peoples. For more than half of the humanity "rice is life". Considering its important position, the United Nation designated year 2004 as the "International Year of rice. More than 430 million metric tonnes of rice consumed worldwide (USDA, 2008). Rice is a nutritional staple food providing 20 % of the calories and 15 % of proteins consumed by the world's population (Muhammad *et al.*, 2015). On the other hand, rice is poor in nitrogenous substances with their average composition being only in trace amounts. The fat content or lipids are only negligible and due to this reason it is considered as a complete food for eating.

Local rice production in Nigeria has now reached 15 million metric tones annually (Ahmad, 2017). West Africa remains the hub of rice production in sub-Saharan Africa but the shortfall in rice production has increased significantly as consumption rises at a rate well above that of production growth. In 2006, paddy rice production in sub-Saharan

Africa was estimated at 14.2million tonnes. Rice production in sub-Saharan Africa grew at 3.23% per annum from 1961 to 2005. This growth rate was higher than the yearly population growth rate of 2.90% during the same period (ARC, 2007).

Rice straw is used as cattle feed, it also used for thatching roof and in cottage industry for preparation of hats, mats, ropes, straw board and litter material. Rice husk is used as animal feed, paper making and as fuel source. Rice flour is rich in starch and is used for making various food materials. It is also used by brewers to make alcoholic malt. Likewise, rice straw mixed with other materials is used to produce porcelain, glass and pottery. Rice straw is also used in manufacturing of paper pulp and livestock bedding. The rice bran is also an important source of animal feed in many countries of the world (Muhammad *et al.*, 2015). In husked rice, protein content ranges between 7 and 12 %. The use of nitrogen fertilizers increases the percentage content of some amino acids in rice.

Globally, improving quantity and quality of rice grain has been approached to solve several problems among the world population such as decreasing the number of hidden hunger and malnutrition (Burchi *et al.*, 2011). However, a wide variation of grain morphological characteristics will be required as source of genetic materials in breeding for some specific traits as it would have effect on consumer's acceptance in the end. According to Couch and Hittalmani (2018) The yields of rice are complex quantitative traits that involve multiple quantitative trait loci (QTLs), so it is not simple to improve them. Also, the crop environment varies depending on the season, year, location, and a specific area within the field. These variations lead to large fluctuations in crop yield. Therefore, breeders need to assess yield stability of crops in different environments to develop and launch a new variety. Recent advances in rice genomics have improved the understanding of individual QTL functions, thereby unraveling genotype-phenotype relationships and facilitating grain yield improvement (Ikeda *et al.*, 2013).

# **1.2** Statement of the Research Problem

The populations in the major rice-consuming countries continue to grow at a rate of more than 1.5 % per year. According to various estimates, world rice production must increase at the rate of 2 million tonnes per year. To meet this challenge, rice varieties with higher yield potential and greater yield stability are needed.

Inadequate information generated from phenotyping these germplasms that can be used as basis to augment diversity in the genebank collections as well as baseline information for utilization in rice breeding programs. One of the most difficult tasks in carrying out a successful breeding programme is the choice of germplasm. In order to develop a variety with a set of desirable characteristics, rice breeders need to be sure that the source of germplasm has desirable genetic variability and to make the right choice of parental material to be used in a breeding programme breeders must clearly know the type of product to be developed.

# **1.3** Justification of the Study

Rice genotypes with wide genetic variability are essential to generate viable progenies. The major resource of plant breeders is the genetic variability in gene pool that is accessible to the crop of interest (Thottappily *et al.*, 2016). Success of rice improvement programmes depends on the amount of genetic variability and the degree to which the desirable traits

are heritable (Ravi *et al.*, 2003). Hence assessment of genetic variability among genotypes becomes important in establishing relationships among different cultivars for the initiation of appropriate breeding procedures in crop improvement programmes. Hence, it becomes necessary to split over-all variability into its heritable and non heritable components with the help of certain genetic parameters, which may enable the breeders to plan a proper breeding programme. Therefore, the progress of a population mainly depends upon the amount and magnitude of genotypic variability present in the population. Information on genetic variability among growth as well as yield components in rice has been reported by many workers (Sivasubramanian and Madhava, 2010; Latif and Zamin 2010). The characterization of these genetic resources is a necessity not only for posterity, but also for utilization in different improvement programs such as breeding for improved yield and tolerance to various stresses. The study of morpho-agronomic traits is the conventional way of evaluating genetic variability in crops (Bui and Nguyen, 2015).

# 1.4 Aim and Objectives of the Study

#### Aim

The aim of this study was to determine the extent of phenotypic and genotypic variability among the rice genotypes.

#### Objectives

The objectives of this study were to:

- i. Determine extent of variability in some lowland rice genotypes.
- ii. Evaluate for growth, yield an yield components in lowland rice genotypes.

iii. Determine direct and indirect contribution of each component to yield in lowland genotypes.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

### 2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

### 2.1 Origin and Distribution of Rice

Evidence of the presence of rice in food of the early man has been found around 5000 BC in China and India from archeological excavations (Sharma *et al.*, 2012). Chang (2012) presented evidence for early rice cultivation in the Indian Himalayas 2450-3950 BP and in China 5230 BP, proposing multiple, independent, concurrent domestication events across the region stretching from the foothills of the Indian Himalayas to southwestern and southern China. All forms of Asian rice both indicas and japonicas were obtained from a single domestication that occurred between 8200-13500 years ago in China, of the wild rice *Oryza rufipogon* (Molina *et al.*, 2011). Domesticated rice spread throughout Asia, the Mediterranean (2,300 BP), Madagascar (1,500 BP), Southern Europe (500 - 600 BP) and more recently as a result of European colonization, to Africa, North and South America respectively (300-500 BP) (Oka, 2012).

The first rice crop was seen in China (Emu Du region) around 5000 BC and in Thailand around 4500 BC. They were later seen in Cambodia, Southern India and Vietnam. Later derived species indica and japonica expanded to other Asian countries such as Indonesia, Myanmar, Pakistan, Philippines, Sri Lanka, Korea and Japan (Molina *et al.*, 2011). The Asian rice (*Oryza sativa*) became adapted to farming in the Middle East and Mediterranean Europe around 800 BC. The Moros brought rice to the Spanish European country when they conquered the country around 700 AD (Huang *et al.*, 2012). After the mid-15th century, rice cultivation spread throughout Italy and then France, later to other parts of the continents during the great age of the European exploration. The Spanish people took this crop to South America at the beginning of the 18th century (UNCTAD, 2015). Introduction of *O. sativa* to Africa also brought it in contact with the more recently domesticated (3,500 BP), closely related West African domesticated species *O. glaberrima* (Chang, 1976). Rice (*Oryza glaberrima* Steud) is indigenous to Nigeria and has been cultivated for the past 3,500 years (Hardcastle, 2012). The earliest cultivation of improved rice varieties (*O. sativa* L.) started in about 1890 with the introduction of upland varieties to the high forest zone in Western Nigeria (Hardcastle, 2012; Atanda *et al.*, 2012).

Consequently, by 1960 *O. sativa* had taken over from *O. glaberrima*, which is now limited to some deep-flooded plains of the Sokoto-Rima river basin and other isolated pockets of deep swamps all over the country (Atanda *et al.*, 2012, Imolehin, 2012).

# 2.2 The History of Rice in West Africa

Rice belongs to the poaceae family, the *Oryza* genus (Megan and Mc Couch, 2014). It has been cultivated in West Africa for at least 2000 years. It was cultivated in the Fezzan or modern-day Libya by the Garamantes. There are about 20 different species, of which the cultivated varieties are *Oryza sativa* and *Oryza glaberrima* (Vaughan and Morishima, 2012). African rice (*Oryza glaberrima*) is a distinct species from Asian rice (*Oryza sativa*), which is one of the two domesticated rice species (Linares, 2016). It was first domesticated and grown in West\_Africa (Wang *et al.*, 2014), and brought to the Americas by enslaved West African rice farmers (Judith, 2004). It is now largely a subsistence crop, rarely sold in markets even in West Africa (Ikhioya, 2013). It has been partly replaced by higher-yielding Asian\_rice (Wang *et al.*, 2014), and the number of varieties grown is

declining, making up an estimated 20 % of rice grown in West Africa (Linares, 2016). In comparison to Asian rice, *O. glaberima* is hardy, pest-resistant, low-labour, suited to a variety of African conditions (Linares, 2016).

African rice was domesticated from wild African rice, *Oryza barthii*, while Asian rice (*Oryza sativa*), was domesticated from wild Asian rice, *Oryza rufipogon. Oryza barthii* still grows wild in Africa, in a wide variety of open habitats. The Sahara was formerly\_wetter, with massive paleolakes in what is now the Western Sahara. As the paleolasces dried, the wild rice retreated and probably became increasingly domesticated as it relied on humans for irrigation. Thus, the rice growing in deeper, more permanent water became floating\_rice.

Asian rice came to West Africa in the late 1800s, and by the late twentieth century had substantially replaced native African rice. However, African rice was still used in specific, often marginal habitats, and preferred for its taste (Ologbon, 2012). Farmers may grow African rice to eat and Asian rice to sell, as African rice is not exported. Rice-growing regions of Africa are generally net rice importers partly due to a lack of good local rice-processing capacity so price increases (Taimiyu, 2010). Among the efforts to increase yield was the adoption of NERICA cultivars, crossbred to specifications from local farmers using African rice varieties provided by local farmers (Linares, 2016). These were bred during the 1990s and released in the early 21st century (Sarla, 2014). Results so far have been mixed; the NERICA varieties are less hardy and more labour-intensive, and effects on real-world yields vary. Subsidies of nerica seeds have also been criticized for encouraging

the loss of native varieties and reducing the independence of farmers.

# 2.3 Rice Improvement in Nigeria

The activities of rice breeding task forces in Nigeria involve research into upland, rain fed lowland and irrigated low land. Through the task forces, lines bred for different ecological problems are composed into nurseries of nominations from Africa Rice and National Programmes. The National Agricultural Research System (NARs) that share similar production constraints in a given ecology evaluate these nurseries and the results from these evaluations are discussed at Africa Rice Centre headquarters at the end of each cropping season after which some varieties from these nurseries are then identified for national use. AfricaRice at full incorporation into the Consultative Group on International Agricultural research system (CGIAR) established a lowland breeding station at the International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA), The national program benefited agricultural research scientists in Nigeria because scientists could enjoy closer collaborations with their African Rice counterpart at the station. (Emodi and Madukwe, 2008).

# 2.4 Climatic Requirement of Rice

Rice can be grown in different environments depending upon water availability and temperature conditions (IRRI, 2013). Cold stress is a common problem in rice cultivation and affects global production as a crucial factor (Hu *et al.*, 2012). Rice is a cold-sensitive plant that originated from tropical or subtropical zones. When low temperature occurs during the reproductive stages, it can cause serious yield and yield components losses

(Lewin *et al.*, 2006). The optimum temperature for rice cultivation is between 25°C and 35°C, and in temperate regions, rice growth is impressed by limited period that favors its growth (Garath *et al.*, 2003).

Exposure to cold temperature affects all phonological stages of rice and lower grain production and yield, too. Low temperature in vegetative stage can cause slow growth and reduce seedling vigor (Matthews *et al.*, 2006). low number of seedlings, reduce tillering (Iwama *et al.*, 2002) increase plant mortality (Sato *et al.*, 2004) increase the growth period (Alvarado and Hernaiz (2007) and in reproductive stage, it can cause to produc panicle sterility and lower grain production and yield . Critical stages for cold damage include germination, booting, flowering, and filling stages (Satake, 1976).

# 2.5 Morpho-agronomic characteristics of rice

**2.5.1 Panicle number and length** panicle is borne on the uppermost internode of the culm which is often mis-termed a peduncle. The architectural design of the panicle covers several aspects such as spikelet density, panicle length and panicle curvature (Sharief *et al.*, 2015). The number of panicle with filled grains generally determines the ultimate yield of the crop. This gives an indication that accessions with long panicles will accommodate more grain than short panicles accessions. Efisue *et al.* (2014) reported that accessions with long panicles possess high yielding ability. Kumar *et al.* (2015) by studying traits in rice varieties reported that there are positive and significant correlations between panicle length and grain yield.

# 2.5.2 Tillers

A rice plants generally consists of main shoot and tillers which initiate at different times and differ in growth and development patterns depending on the time of their initiation and genotype (Krishna and Nidhi, 2014). Tiller number plays a significant role in influencing rice grain yield since it is closely related to number of panicles per unit ground area. Rahman *et al.* (2011) reported that tillers contribute a great portion of grain yield and the extent of contribution varies among genotype and planting density.

Tillering in rice is one of the most important agronomic traits for grain production because tiller number per plant determines panicle number, a key component of grain yield (Liu et al., 2011; Zhu et al., 2011). Furthermore, tiller number usually serves as a suitable model trait for the study of developmental characteristics, since it changes over time. Hence, the genetic elucidation of tiller number has become a focus in rice genetic and breeding research (Liu et al., 2010). Therefore grain yield and its contributing traits vary greatly with tiller type and early initiated tillers produce more grains than late initiated tillers (Peltonen and Jarvinen, 2015). According to Senapati et al. (2015) high tillering capacity is regarded as an important trait in rice production since the number of tillers per plant is closely correlated to number of panicles per plant. Wu et al. (2015) stated that yield potential of a rice genotype may be considered by its tillering capacity. Therefore variation in grain development and yield between tillers is unpredictable over the genotypes differing in tillering ability. Variation in grain yield among tillers has been regarded the most important factor affecting yield potential for a given rice variety. Lafarge et al. (2015) reported that grain quality could be also affected by tillering ability due to different grain development characteristics.

**2.5.3 Panicle weight** The mass of grains of individual plants directly determines the yield of a population, (Verica *et al.*, 2013). As a final product of the interaction between a lot of physiological and biochemical processes in the plants, the mass of grains from plant depends on several properties, such as the number of panicles per plant, number of grains per panicle and weight of grain, (Verica *et al.*, 2013). Changing any of these properties result in change of the grain yield per plant. The link of this property with other components of yield indirectly contributes to its high variability, (Verica *et al.*, 2013).

**2.5.4 Days to 50 % flowering** Transition of apical bud in-to floral bud demarcates the initiation of reproductive stage of rice in its growth cycle. Number of days taken for this transition determines the heading date or days to flowering of any rice cultivar (Yano *et al.*, 2001).

#### 2.5.5 Plant height

Plant height is not only a decisive factor in plant architecture, but also an important agronomic trait that is directly linked to the harvest index and yield potential (Yang and Hwa, 2008). Therefore, morphological characteristics such as plant height have been considered important traits in breeding both super rice and bio-energy crops.

# 2.6 Rice Cultivation

Rice grows in all the agro ecological zones as diverse as the Sahel of Borno State and the coastal swamps of the southwest and south-south (Longtau, 2003). According to Longtau (2003), six rice growing environments have been identified, they are upland, hydromorphic, rain fed lowland, irrigated lowland, deep inland water and mangrove swamp. According to Damola

(2010), rice growing environment in Nigeria are usually classified into five rice ecosystems: rain-fed lowland which accounts for 47 % of total rice production area, rain-fed upland (30 %), irrigated lowland including large-scale irrigation schemes and small-scale irrigation schemes which account for 16 % of total rice area, deep water (5 %) and mangrove swamp accounting for less than 1% of total rice area.

Imolehin and Wada (2000) show the possible land area for rice production in Nigeria to be 4.6 million and 4.9 million hectares, and the areas include five different ecologies such as; upland, inland or shallow swamp ecology, irrigated rice ecology, deep water or floating rice ecology and tidal (mangrove) swamp ecologies. These ecologies cannot be the same in terms of hydrology and water control. The type of rice plants that are grown are different for each ecology. Rice bred for the irrigated land for instance cannot be grown in the uplands or flood plain and deep water environment (Pingali *et al.*, 1997). In all, rice varieties are bred for a specific zone. Therefore, the modern FARO 44 high yielding variety that outshined the other varieties was developed for the irrigated and the favorable rainfed lowlands.

Rice is grown under various growing environment. Four major environments are generally recognized as follows: irrigated, rainfed lowland, upland, and lastly flood prone.

i. Upland ecology - In the upland ecology, crops depend heavily on natural rain for their growth and development. About 55 to 60 percent of the cultivated rice land and 30 to 35 percent of total national rice production come from this ecology (Singh *et al.*, 2011). Some of the upland rice areas are on sloping mountain sides. Also rice is planted under dry conditions just as wheat or maize Naturally well drained soils in bunded or unbunded fields without surface water accumulation (Dingkuhn, 2014). Rice varieties are photoperiod

insensitive and have deep roots and some level of drought tolerance. Many of the upland soils have low pH and are deficient in nutrients. Yields thus average about 1.2 tons per hectare. About 16 million hectares of world rice land is classified as upland.

- ii. Irrigated rice- Approximately, 55% of the world rice area planted to rice, is irrigated and is the most productive rice growing system (Guo *et al.*, 2013). Perhaps 75 % of the world rice production comes from irrigated areas and Asian mega cities are fed from irrigated rice. Irrigation water is provided by human intervention through a variety of works including river diversions, reservoirs and wells. The area of irrigated rice has expanded markedly in the last 3 decades. Modern rice varieties and improved cultivation techniques have had their greatest impact on increasing the productivity of irrigated lands (Sohrabi *et al.*, 2012). Most of the irrigated areas are planted to improved varieties and more fertilizer and other inputs are used than in the other ecologies. Rice yields in irrigated areas have doubled to five tonne per ha in the past 30 years and there is considerable scope for further yield improvement. Irrigated areas are further divided into irrigated wet season when rainfall is supplemented with irrigation water and irrigated dry season when rainfall is very low and irrigation is the primary source of water supply (Farooq , 2011). Yields during the dry season are higher than during the wet season due to higher incoming solar radiation.
- iii. Rainfed lowland rice About one fourth of the world rice area is rainfed lowland. Yields average about two tons per hectare (Genet, 2014). Rainfed lowlands have a great diversity of growing conditions that vary by amount of rainfall and duration of rainfall, depth of standing water, duration of standing water, flooding frequency, and time of flooding, soil type and topography. Rainfed lowland fields are bunded and water is impounded, when available, just like irrigated fields. Rainfed lowlands are further subdivided into five

categories; Short periods of moisture stress may occur. Improved varieties developed for irrigated conditions are grown in such area and yields average around three tons.

Rainfed shallow drought prone, where rainy period is short and periods of mild to severe drought stress occur during the growing season. Photoperiod insensitive varieties with short duration and degree of drought tolerance are most suitable.

Rainfed shallow submergence prone, where rice crop is submerged during periods of heavy rain falls for up to 10 days. Rainy period is generally long and crop is harvested after the rainy season is over. Photoperiod sensitive varieties are generally grown.

Rain fed medium deep, where water accumulates in the fields in low lying areas and stagnates for 2 to 5 months because of impeded drainage. Photoperiod sensitive varieties with tolerance to stagnant water are grown.

iv. Flood prone rice - Flood prone rice is grown in low lying lands in river deltas of South and Southeast Asia. Standing water depth may vary from 50cm to more than 5m. However, flooding occurs only during part of the growing season (Khush, 2014). Fields are unbunded. Rice is broadcast sown. Tall varieties with photoperiod sensitivity are grown.

Varieties grown in deeper areas (100 cm) have elongation ability. About 9 million hectares are planted to floodprone rice of which 3 million falls in the category of deepwater rice. Average yields are around 1.6 tonne per hectare.

#### 2.7 Genetic variability studies in rice

Previous studies reported that seed of local rice varieties maintained by farmers are genetically diverse (Dennis, 2016). Diversity analyses may be based on morphological characteristics such as shape, size and pigmentation of plant parts that local farmers use to distinguish different rice varieties (Morishima *et al.*, 2016). Molecular techniques such as AFLP, ISSR and SSR (Saini *et* 

*al.*, 2016) allow variation to be evaluated between individual plants. An important way of describing a plant is by its qualitative traits (Kurlovich, 1998).

These characters in plant are mostly genetically controlled and thus less influenced by environmental conditions (Sarawgi *et al.*, 2013). According to Hien *et al.* (2012), qualitative traits are mainly influenced by natural selection, socio economic scenarios and consumer preference. Systematic study and characterization of high quality rice germplasm is not only important for utilizing the useful donor traits, but also essential for protecting the unique rice varieties. Characterization is a critical step to find genetic relationships among genotypes and to prevent adulteration practices. The study of genetic relationship among different rice cultivars is considered to be an important tool for plant breeders for an efficient selection of the diverse parents for their potential use in a rice breeding program as well as for the improvement of quality traits of rice (Sajib *et a*/., 2012). Moreover, characterization is also essential to prevent adulteration of low priced, non-aromatic rice with high priced aromatic rice and consequently dissemination of information to the consumers.

Unambiguous, reliable, fast and cost-effective identification of genetic divergence in rice cultivars is essential for the effective utilization and protection of plant genetic resources (Barcaccia, 2009). According to International Union for Protection of New Plant Varieties (UPOV), any new characteristics used in varietal characterization should be clearly defined, accepted and should have standard method of observation, least or not affected by environment, accessible to breeders, associated with reasonable costs and efforts. Different approaches based on morphological, physico-chemical, biochemical and molecular attributes have been used to achieve characterization of genetic divergence among rice cultivars (Chakravarthi and Naravaneni, 2014). Rice genetic resources are key components to breeding programmes, and farmers have played important roles in contributing to rice diversity by developing and nurturing thousands of rice varieties for several years. This vast wealth of rice germplasm including landraces and traditional varieties is a good source of important alleles to develop new rice varieties. These germplasm serve as the foundation of any rice breeding programme because they are the source of important traits necessary for improving and developing new breeds of rice varieties. Several reports have shown the utilization of rice landraces in developing new varieties.

The achievement of high yield of rice mainly initiate from breeding new genotype with adaptive traits to yield production and improvement of management and grain quality characters which are also reported to play an important role in genetic divergence (Julfiquar, 2006) than yield quality characters, few morphological traits that is plant height, number of panicle per plant, number of effective tillers, 1000-grain weight, panicle length also contribute to the genetic variability (Babu, 2013). Hence, critical assessment of nature and magnitude of genetic variability is one of the important prerequisites in formulating effective breeding methods. The knowledge of direct and indirect effects of yield components is necessary to reveal which effect is important (Isong *et al.*, 2013).

Correlation coefficient is known to determine the relationship between components necessary for selection, however when more characters are involved, the indirect association between characters become more complex. Path coefficient analysis is found to be useful in revealing the relationship among traits whereby suitable for effective selection of complex traits in rice (Liaqat *et al.*, 2015, Iqbal *et al.*, 2006). combination of heritability with genetic advance over mean is more effective and reliable in predicting the resultant

effect of selection (Ramanjinappa *et al.*, 2011). Genetic Advance according to Hamdi *et al.* (2017) will ostensibly show the magnitude of the expected genetic gain from one cycle of selection. Therefore, the study of direct and indirect association will help in understanding the yield components and form the basis for selection to improve yield. In genetic diversity studies using morphological traits, the most important variables describing phenotypic variation are defined by principal component (PC) analysis. Diversity studies using principal component analysis have been carried out in rice by several authors to understand and prioritize the most essential traits which explain much of the variability among the studied genotypes (Guei *et al.*, 2015).

Correlation analysis is a measure of the strength of association between two characters (traits). Morphological and physiological traits analysis in plant through correlation can be used as tool for indirect selection. Correlation studies assist plant breeders at the time of selection and provide valuable information about yield and yield related traits. Selection in plant breeding holds major importance in the development of any crop and knowledge about the criteria used for selection of any crop is an asset. Breeders must always have a target in mind before proceeding towards improvement of any crop through selection.

Genetic advance as per cent of mean provides more reliable information regarding the effectiveness of selection in improving the traits. Genetic advance denotes the improvement in the genotypic value of the new population over the original population (Ghosh and Sharma, 2012).

### 2.8 Economic importance of rice

Rice is no longer a luxurious food but as a cereal, it has become a major source of energy, for urban people just as rural ones (Ojo *et al.*, 2009). Rice is an important source of energy, iron, calcium, vitamins, and protein (IRRI, 2016). In 2000, global production of milled rice was about 415 million tons (CIRAD, 2008). From the year 2000 to 2003, this production gradually declined and it increased in 2004 from 390 million tonnes in 2008.

The quality desired in rice varies from one geographical region to another and consumers demand certain varieties and favors specific quality traits of milled rice for home cooking (Juliano *et al.*, 2013; Azeez and Shafi, 2013). Due to the widely varied preferences of consumers, the world rice market is not homogenous.

In 2005, statistics from the European Association of Agricultural Economics (EAAE) shows that Nigeria is the largest rice importer in West Africa, with an average yearly import of 1.6 million metric tonnes since the year 2000 (USAID, 2010). Total consumption stands at 4.4 million tons of milled rice while annual consumption per capital stands at 29kg and this has continued to rise at 11% per annum; induced by income growth. Nigeria produces only about 2.8 million metric tons with a deficit of 1.6 million metric tons excluding the large quantity being smuggled through the porous borders (USAID, 2010).

# **CHAPTER THREE**

# 3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

# 3.1 Experimental Location

The experiment was carried out at National Cereals Research Institute experimental field Badeggi (Latitude 9°45'N, Longitude 6°07'E and altitude 70.5 m above sea level (masl) and Edozhigi Latitude 9°45'N and Longitude 6°17'E altitude 50.57 metres above sea level (masl) respectively, all in southern Guinea Savanna agro-ecological zone of Nigeria.

## 3.2 Experimental Materials

The local rice varieties used for this experiment were collected from farmers in Niger State rice growing villages and the improved varieties were collected from National Cereals Research Institute, Badeggi (NCRI), rice breeding unit.

# 3.3 Experimental Design and Layout

The experiment was laid out in Alpha lattice design in 3 replications. The experiment comprises of 10 plots and 5 blocks, in each block of a size  $5x1m^2$ . In gross experimental plot which measured  $27m \times 57m^2$ .

1 abic 3.1.	List	varieues Oscu ior i	пе изрегине	110	
S/NO	NAME	TYPE	S/NO	NAME	ТҮРЕ
1	Dangote	Local	26	FARO 50	improved
2	Goro	Local	27	FARO 51	improved
3	Guzan	Local	28	FARO 52	improved
4	FARO 15	Improved	29	FARO 56	improved
5	FARO 16	Improved	30	FARO 57	improved
6	FARO 17	Improved	31	FARO 60	improved
7	FARO 19	Improved	32	FARO 61	improved
8	FARO 20	Improved	33	FARO 62	improved
9	FARO 21	Improved	34	FARO 63	improved
10	FARO 22	Improved	35	FARO 64	improved
11	FARO 24	Improved	36	FARO 65	improved
12	FARO 26	Improved	37	FARO 4	improved
13	FARO 27	Improved	38	Ndayikako	Local
14	FARO 30	Improved	39	Ebangichi	Local
15	FARO 31	Improved	40	Waluye	Local
16	FARO 32	Improved	41	Jarisilimi	Local
17	FARO 33	Improved	42	Biruwa	Local
18	FARO 34	Improved	43	Hajiya Fatima	Local
19	FARO 37	Improved	44	Upland	Local
20	FARO 41	Improved	45	Salama	Local
21	FARO 44	Improved	46	Suleiman	Local
22	FARO 45	Improved	47	Jamila	Local
23	FARO 47	Improved	48	Yar Yamidi	Local
24	FARO 48	Improved	49	Bisalai	Local
25	FARO 49	Improved	50	Kududogichi	Local

Table 3.1:List of Varieties Used for the Experiment

**3.4 Cultural practices** Standard agronomic practices such as seed bed preparations, site preparation, seed sowing and thinning-out, fertilizer application, weed control and harvesting were adhered to;

#### 3.4.1 Tillage operation

Ploughing, harrowing and levelling were carried out manually with cutlass and hoe.

#### 3.4.2 Nursery Practices

Seedling was raised on nursery bed measuring 1.5 m wide, 10 m long and 4 to 6 cm above the ground surface. It was done by drilling method. Mulching was done with grass to avoid depicking by rodent and maintain soil moisture. The mulch was removed 7 days after seedling emergence.

# 3.4.3 Transplanting

Transplanting was done 21 days after seedling emergence at spacing of 20 by 20 cm inter and intra row spacing.

# 3.4.4 Weeding

Manual weeding was carried out regularly at 21 and 42 days after transplanting.

# 3.4.5 Fertilizer application

The equivalent of 40 kg each of N,  $P_2O_5$  and  $K_2O$  per hectare was applied at transplanting as basal application. Top dressing of 46 % N fertilizer, was applied in 2 split application by  $1^{st}$  top dressing at 21 days after transplanting,  $2^{nd}$  top dressing at panicle initiation.

# 3.4.6 Harvesting

The crop was harvested when the grains are hard and are turning yellow/ brownish at 30 - 45 days after flowering or a month after 50 % flowering.

# 3.4.7 Threshing

Threshing was carried out on tarpaulin by beating the rice against a stick.

# 3.4.8 Winnowing

Winnowing was done to separate the chaff and empty grains from well-filled matured grains.

# 3.5 Data Collection

# i Plant height

Plant height (cm) was measured from soil surface to tip of the plant at reproductive stage using the metre rule.

# ii Panicle number per plant (PNPP)

The total number of panicles was counted and recorded at the maturity stage before harvest.

# iii Tiller number

This was obtained by counting the number of tillers per plant randomly per plot manually with hand and averaged across replications for each genotypes during the maturity stage.

#### iv Panicle exertion

The extent to which the panicle is exerted above the flag leaf sheath and it was score using the scale of 1-9 as described by IRRI (2013). 1-Enclosed (panicle is partly or completely enclosed within the leaf sheath of the flag leaf blade), 3-Partly exerted (panicle base is seen slightly beneath the collar of the flag leaf blade), 5-Just exerted (panicle base coincides with the collar of the flag leaf blade), 7-Moderately well exerted (panicle base is seen above the collar of the flag leaf blade) and 9-Well exerted (panicle base is seen well above the collar of the flag leaf blade).

#### v Panicle length

The panicle length was measured from the base of the panicle to the tip. A total of five panicle were measured from each entry.

# vi Panicle weight

Panicles were obtained from harvested samples of genotypes and weighed on a balanced scale to determine the weight in grams.

#### vii Days to 50% flowering

Days to 50% flowering were recorded when half of the plant population started flowering.

#### x. Data Analysis

Data collected were subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA) using MSTAT package 1.3 versions and correlation was done as described by Muhammad *et al.* (2015). Estimates of variance component were determined according to Shivanna (2008). Cluster and Principal Component analysis was used to group the genotype according to their response patterns.

#### **CHAPTER FOUR**

**4.0** 

# RESULTS

# 4.1: Mean Square for Eight Agronomic Traits of Fifty Lowland Rice Evaluated

Result of the mean square analysis of variance for the agronomic traits studied is presented in Table 4.1. There were highly significant differences amongst the entries at Badeggi for plant height, tiller number, panicle number, panicle exertion, days to 50 % flowering and grain yield showed significant difference. Panicle length was significant at <0.05 probability level. Panicle weight showed no significant difference. Similarly, there was highly significant differences for panicle number, panicle exertion and days to 50 % flowering in Edozhigi. Panicle length and grain yield were significantly different at <0.05 probability level with plant height, tiller number and panicle weight not significantly different.

Combined location result showed there were highly significant differences amongst the entries in their mean squares. Plant height, tiller number, panicle length, panicle number, panicle exertion and days to 50 % flowering were significantly different at <1 percent level of probability. Grain yield was significantly different at <0.05probability level. Panicle weight showed no significant difference. genotypes at 2 locations. Highly significant genotypes effects were observed for all the traits. The genotype by locations were significantly different at <1 percent level of probability for 50 % flowering. But, significantly different at <0.05 probability level for panicle exertion and panicle weight. Environmental effect was highly significant on days to 50 % flowering, tiller number, plant height and panicle number. Grain yield and panicle exertion were significant at <0.05 % probability level.

		Ν	Mean Square		
Traits	Genotypes (G)	Genotypes (G)	Genotypes (G)	Locations(L)	GxL
	Location 1	Location 2	Combined	Effects	Interaction
Plant height (cm)	298.57**	78.05 <sup>ns</sup>	251.98**	15.32 <sup>ns</sup>	245.08**
Number of Tillers	7342.77**	3610.42 <sup>ns</sup>	6546.75**	982.83 <sup>ns</sup>	6844.99**
Panicle Length (cm)	6.79*	10.14*	11.56**	9.92 <sup>ns</sup>	7.62 <sup>ns</sup>
Number of Panicles	3279.08**	2277.72**	3712.11**	15336.75 <sup>ns</sup>	4770.13**
Panicle exertion	6.36**	4.68**	8.53**	72.03*	2.84*
Panicle Weight (g)	39.00 <sup>ns</sup>	39.59 <sup>ns</sup>	37.87 <sup>ns</sup>	1188.03*	36.02 <sup>ns</sup>
Days to Flowering	284.98**	321.69**	182.01**	462587.65**	155.47**
Grain Yield (Kg/ha)	1189178.16**	1518375.36*	1399465.05*	786432.00 <sup>ns</sup>	1462908.48*

4.1: Mean Square for Eight Agronomic Traits of Fifty Lowland Rice Evaluated

\*Significant at 5 %

\*\*Significant at 1 %

# 4.2: Mean values for Plant Height (PH), Number of Tillers (TN)and Panicle Length (PL) among Fifty Lowland Rice Cultivars from combined analysis of variance

Significant differences existed amongst entries for plant height at maturity with FARO 15 (104.07 cm) recorded the tallest plants while FARO 44 (73. 80cm) had the shortest plant height. Number of tiller counted per meter square ( $m^2$ ) were significantly different at (p<0.05) among the genotypes such that FARO 30 (357.17) produced the highest number of tillers compared to FARO 61 (190.17) which produced the lowest tillers among all the entries. Panicle length observed in this study was significantly different in all the entries with FARO 60 (27.36 cm) recorded the highest compared to genotype Bisalai (19.79 cm) which had the lowest.

# **4.3:** The mean values from combined analysis of variance (ANOVA) for panicle number, panicle exertion and panicle weight

There was significant difference in the entries for panicle number such that FARO 60 (278.00) had the highest panicle number among the entries studied. Whereas FARO 20 (143.17) recorded the least panicle number. Panicle exertion were significantly (p<0.05) different among the genotypes with the following FARO 20, FARO 41, FARO 64 and Guzan recorded the highest score (6) compared to FARO 50 and FARO 32 which recorded the lowest score (1). Panicle weight was not statistically different among all the genotypes. But, the highest panicle weight was recorded in FARO 47 (38.17) compared to Goro (25.83g) that recorded lowest among all the genotypes (Table 4.3).

Length (PL) among Fifty Lowland Rice Cultivars										
S/N	Genotypes	PH	TN	PL			Genotypes	PH	TN	PL
1	Biruwa	96.55	284.83	25.09	47	Suleiman	86.89	194.67	25.10	
2	Bisalai	95.34	246.17	19.79	48	Upland	87.89	220.33	24.64	
3	Dangote	91.10	213.67	23.57	49	Waluye	98.27	239.17	23.77	
4	Ebangichi	88.96	275.83	22.54	50	YarYamidi	90.13	237.83	24.16	
5	FARO 15	104.07	222.67	25.37	20	Minimum	42.00	190.17	19.79	
6	FARO 16	81.77	249.00	23.68		Maximum	120.00	486.00	32.66	
7	FARO 17	82.05	277.17	22.50		Mean	90.54	257.32	23.92	
8	FARO 19	94.36	261.17	23.53		SE-Mean	0.69	3.51	0.16	
9	FARO 20	83.17	260.50	21.99		LSD	14.18	75.09	3.27	
10	FARO 21	88.08	242.67	22.54		LOD	11.10	15.07	5.21	
11	FARO 22	97.54	241.50	22.04						
12	FARO 22 FARO 24	93.83	293.33	23.23						
12	FARO 26	85.27	274.50	23.64						
13	FARO 20 FARO 27	77.09	308.83	23.04						
14	FARO 30	84.78	357.17	23.03 24.38						
15	FARO 31	93.53	218.50	24.38						
10	FARO 31 FARO 32	84.25	218.50 280.67	22.80 25.73						
18	FARO 32 FARO 33	85.03	289.33	23.73 24.25						
19	FARO 33 FARO 34	90.73	243.83	24.23 22.61						
20	FARO 34 FARO 37	90.73 82.53	243.83 229.33	22.01						
20	FARO 40	82.33 89.91	229.33 268.00	22.73 22.78						
21	FARO 40 FARO 41	89.91 87.20	208.00 250.00	22.78						
22	FARO 41 FARO 44	73.80	250.00	22.43						
23 24	FARO 44 FARO 45	83.17	232.17	22.43 22.83						
24 25				22.83 25.41						
	FARO 47	81.47	246.00							
26 27	FARO 48	87.73	273.00	24.98						
	FARO 49	90.80	339.17	24.01						
28	FARO 50	92.11	286.67	23.22						
29 20	FARO 51	92.07	255.17	24.34						
30	FARO 52	98.74	280.00	24.26						
31	FARO 56	92.17	257.00	23.22						
32	FARO 57	80.67	242.67	24.30						
33	FARO 60	91.87	268.67	27.36						
34 25	FARO 61	95.62	190.17	25.72						
35	FARO 62	98.17	281.17	23.18						
36	FARO 63	91.85	254.17	24.04						
37	FARO 64	97.18	257.00	24.99						
38	FARO 65	91.70	258.67	26.02						
39	Goro	95.52	263.33	23.59						
40	Guzan	97.70	216.17	23.79						
41	Hajiya Fatima	95.61	236.83	26.28						
42	Jamila	95.05	229.00	24.76						
43	Jarisilimi	96.21	297.50	26.34						
44	Kududogichi	98.17	202.00	25.61						
45	Ndayikako	88.48	286.50	24.49						
46	Salama	100.85	230.17	22.62						

Table 4.2:Mean values for Plant Height (PH), Number of Tillers (TN)and Panicle<br/>Length (PL) among Fifty Lowland Rice Cultivars

S/N	ã					e Cultivars			
	Genotypes	PN	PX	PW	S	/N Genoty	vpes Pl	N PX	PW
1	Biruwa	244.50	4.83	27.33	47	Suleiman	217.17	3.67	27.67
2	Bisalai	190.83	5.00	28.67	48	Upland	223.67	4.83	29.67
3	Dangote	229.83	4.33	31.33	49	Waluye	183.00	5.17	32.00
4	Ebangichi	165.17	4.67	26.67	50	YarYamidi	203.00	4.17	27.67
5	FARO 15	177.17	2.00	28.00		Minimum	95.00	1.00	20.00
6	FARO 16	224.00	3.83	26.33		Maximum	386.00	11.00	46.00
7	FARO 17	181.50	3.67	30.17		Mean	209.65	4.17	29.12
8	FARO 19	182.17	3.17	30.50		SE-Mean	2.83	0.11	0.35
9	FARO 20	143.17	6.00	30.00		LSD	58.11	2.24	NS
10	FARO 21	179.00	3.67	28.17		LSD	50.11	2.27	110
11	FARO 22	204.50	3.67	28.67					
12	FARO 24	189.83	4.33	26.67					
13	FARO 26	189.67	5.33	27.17					
14	FARO 27	213.00	2.67	29.17					
15	FARO 30	219.67	5.00	23.17					
16	FARO 31	231.00	5.17	30.00					
17	FARO 32	216.33	1.33	31.17					
18	FARO 33	199.83	3.83	27.67					
19	FARO 34	219.67	2.67	28.67					
20	FARO 37	228.00	5.00	31.33					
21	FARO 40	182.50	4.83	33.67					
22	FARO 41	229.00	6.33	29.00					
23	FARO 44	219.83	3.50	30.50					
24	FARO 45	217.83	5.50	28.17					
25	FARO 47	215.67	3.83	38.17					
26	FARO 48	192.50	4.50	29.83					
27	FARO 49	230.17	3.83	28.50					
28	FARO 50	193.17	1.00	28.17					
29	FARO 51	186.83	3.17	29.33					
30	FARO 52	195.83	3.67	27.17					
31	FARO 56	233.00	3.00	28.17					
32	FARO 57	206.00	4.00	27.00					
33	FARO 60	278.00	3.50	30.67					
34	FARO 61	240.33	3.67	25.83					
35	FARO 62	243.67	3.83	26.33					
36	FARO 63	209.67	2.83	27.17					
]37	FARO 64	196.17	6.33	32.17					
38	FARO 65	202.83	5.00	28.00					
39	Goro	239.00	5.00	25.83					
40	Guzan	211.83	6.17	31.33					
41	Hajiya	248.00	4.00	31.50					
	Fatima								
42	Jamila	203.33	5.67	34.33					
43	Jarisilimi	192.33	5.17	30.17					
44	Kududogichi	189.00	5.67	29.83					
45	Ndayikako	224.17	3.17	26.67					
45			3.33						

Table 4.3:Mean values for Number of Panicles (PN), Panicle exertion (PX) and Panicle<br/>Weight (PW) among Fifty Lowland Rice Cultivars

# **4.4:** Mean Values for Days to Fifty Percent Flowering (DF), Grain Yield (GY) and Percentage Grain Yield

Days to 50% flowering were significantly (p<0.05) different for all the entries such that FARO 41 (76.30) and FARO 37 (76.10) recorded the longest days to flowering compared to FARO 49 (52.13) which was the shortest duration to 50 % flowering amongst the entries. The individual performance in terms of grain yield of some rice genotypes are significantly (p<0.05) different over checks in this study. Twenty one (21) genotypes out of fifty (50) genotypes evaluated recorded high mean value than the population mean. With the exception of FARO 15 with (3455 kg/ha ), FARO 17 with (3164 kg/ha), FARO 24 with (3149 kg/ha) and Waluye with (4796 kg/ha) which recorded significantly (p<0.05) different over the check. All other genotypes were not statistically significant over the check. Whereas FARO 22 and FARO 52 and Jamila has yield greater or equal to that of the check but there were no significant difference statistically (Table 4.4).

	(1711							(FARO 44) for -Fifty Lowland Rice Cultivars						
S/N	Genotypes	DF	GY %	δYA	S/N	Ger	notypes	DF	GY	% YA				
1	Biruwa	61.73	2194.00			47	Suleiman	65.33	2532.	00				
2	Bisalai	64.93	2683.00			48	Upland	56.60	2560.					
3	Dangote	62.10	1953.00			49	Waluye	61.73	4796.		52.74*			
4	Ebangichi	62.83	2290.00			50	YarYamidi	56.33	2861.		52.74			
5	FARO 15	63.73	3455.00	17.24*	-	50	Minimum	48.33	660.0					
6	FARO 16	59.10	1791.00				Maximum	130.00						
7	FARO 17	55.67	3164.00	7.36*			Mean	62.70	2610.					
8	FARO 19	58.03	2402.00				SE_Mean	1.93	62.47					
9	FARO 20	64.00	2709.00				LSD	4.15	144.3					
10	FARO 21	53.27	2907.00		-		LSD	4.15	144.5	0				
11	FARO 22	63.07	2949.00	0.07										
12	FARO 24	59.93	3149.00	6.85*										
13	FARO 26	64.77	2570.00											
14	FARO 27	67.53	2272.00											
15	FARO 30	61.37	2629.00											
16	FARO 31	48.33	1878.00											
17	FARO 32	65.20	2807.00											
18	FARO 33	61.90	2596.00											
19	FARO 34	65.63	2723.00											
20	FARO 37	76.10	2907.00											
21	FARO 40	70.40	2114.00											
22	FARO 41	76.30	2408.00											
23	FARO 44	67.97	2947.00											
24	FARO 45	63.90	2909.00											
25	FARO 47	55.33	1964.00											
26	FARO 48	69.17	2358.00											
27	FARO 49	52.13	2454.00											
28	FARO 50	56.80	2390.00											
29	FARO 51	65.63	2203.00											
30	FARO 52	65.53	3044.00	3.29										
31	FARO 56	62.13	2332.00											
32	FARO 57	61.60	2557.00											
33	FARO 60	71.17	2631.00											
34	FARO 61	68.93	2739.00											
35	FARO 62	63.67	2459.00											
36	FARO 63	71.32	2113.00											
37	FARO 64	61.17	2383.00											
38	FARO 65	66.50	2721.00											
39	Goro	67.68	2274.00											
40	Guzan	56.20	2279.00											
41	Hajiya	55.13	2877.00											
	Fatima													
42	Jamila	60.03	3086.00	4.72										
43	Jarisilimi	64.10	2164.00											
44	Kududogichi		2836.00											
45	Ndayikako	61.50	2880.00											
46	Salama	63.20	2645.00											

Table 4.4:Mean Values for Days to Fifty Percent Flowering (DF), Grain Yield (GY)<br/>and Percentage Grain Yield Advantage (% YA) over a Known Check<br/>(FARO 44) for -Fifty Lowland Rice Cultivars

## 4.5 Genetic Paramaters of Eight Agronomic Traits of Fifty Lowland Rice Cultivars Evaluated at Badeggi and Edozhigi 2017 growing season.

Table 4.5. Presents, estimate of genotypic and phenotypic variances, genotypic coefficient of variation (GCV) and phenotypic coefficient of variation (PCV), broad sense heritability and genetic advance expressed as percentage of means over two environmental locations. phenotypic variances were higher than the genotypic variances in all the characters studied due to environmental effect. Plant height of (42.84), tiller number of (40.12), panicle number of (38.14) and panicle exertion of (53.49) have moderate heritability. Panicle length of (22.61), panicle weight of (6.62) and grain yield of (12.15) have low heritability. While, days to 50 % flowering of (83.63) has high heritability value. Genotypic coefficient of variance showed panicle exertion (35.60) to have the highest value followed by tiller number (14.84) and grain yield (14.17). Panicle weight recorded the lowest. Phenotypic coefficient of variance was highest for panicle exertion with (48.68), followed by grain yield of (40.64) and tiller number of (23.42). genetic advance over mean was high for panicle exertion with (53.64), days to 50 % flowering of (22.67). while, low percentage was recorded for panicle length and panicle weight.

Cultiv						
Traits	$\sigma^2 g$	$\sigma^2 p$	GCV	PCV	$(H^{2})$	GAM
Plant Height (cm)	58.14	135.70	8.42	12.87	42.84	11.36
Number of Tillers	1457.38	3631.99	14.84	23.42	40.13	19.36
Panicle Length (cm)	1.80	7.96	5.61	11.79	22.61	5.49
Number of Panicles	803.14	2105.84	13.52	21.89	38.14	17.20
Panicle Exertion	2.20	4.12	35.60	48.68	53.49	53.64
Panicle Weight	2.21	33.44	5.11	19.86	6.62	2.71
Days to 50 % Flowering	56.95	68.10	12.04	13.16	83.63	22.67
Grain Yield (kg/ha)	136799.20	1125866.65	14.17	40.64	12.15	10.17

Table 4.5:Genetic Parameters for Eight Agronomic Traits of Fifty Lowland Rice<br/>Cultivars Evaluated

 $\sigma^2 g$  = Genotypic Variance,  $\sigma^2 p$  = Phenotypic Variance, GCV = Genetic Coefficient of Variance, PCV = Phenotypic Coefficient of Variance H<sup>2</sup> = Heritability, GAM = Genetic advance over mean.

## 4.6: Principal Components for Eight Agronomic Traits of Fifty Lowland Rice Cultivars Evaluated at Badeggi and Edozhigi 2017 Rice growing season

Principal component analysis grouped the quantitative traits into 8 components. In which PC1 explained 19 % of the total variation (Table 4.6). Based on the contribution of the eigen vectors to variation, traits such as days to 50 % flowering, panicle weight, panicle exertion and panicle number were the major characters associated with the first principal component. While, plant height, panicle length and tiller number were associated with the second principal component, which accounted for 16 % of the total variation. The third principal component which explained 15 % of the total variation and was dominated by grain yield, tiller number, panicle exertion and panicle number. While, plance is the major contributing factor in the forth principal component, which accounted for 13 % of the total variation.

# 4.7: Genotypic Correlation Coefficients for Eight Agronomic Traits of Fifty Lowland Rice Cultivars Evaluated at Badeggi and Edozhigi 2017 Rice growing season

The result of correlation analysis for yield parameters of some rice genotypes evaluated are shown in Table 4.7. Positive correlation existed between panicle length (0.183), panicle number (0.04) and panicle exertion (0.070) with plant height. while, tiller number has a negative significant correlation with plant height. panicle number has positive significant association with panicle length (0.296\*), panicle weight has a positive

Variables	PC1	PC2	PC3	PC4	PC5	PC6	PC7	PC8
Plant height	-0.03	0.70	-0.17	0.11	-0.15	-0.06	-0.60	0.29
Tiller number	-0.10	-0.42	-0.57	-0.13	0.07	-0.59	-0.33	-0.05
Panicle length	0.29	0.47	0.07	-0.52	-0.01	-0.49	0.33	-0.29
Panicle number	0.34	-0.22	0.33	-0.55	0.37	0.18	-0.45	0.23
Panicle exertion	-0.43	0.15	0.36	0.22	0.60	-0.21	-0.20	-0.42
Panicle weight	0.48	-0.02	0.13	0.51	0.32	-0.41	0.18	0.44
Days to 50 % flowering	-0.61	0.04	0.10	-0.30	0.10	-0.17	0.29	0.64
Grain yield	0.07	0.22	-0.61	-0.07	0.61	0.38	0.24	0.02
Standard deviation	1.24	1.14	1.08	1.01	0.96	0.88	0.83	0.76
Proportion of Variance	0.19	0.16	0.15	0.13	0.11	0.10	0.09	0.07
Cumulative Proportion	0.19	0.35	0.50	0.63	0.74	0.84	0.93	1.00
EigenValues	1.54	1.30	1.16	1.03	0.92	0.78	0.69	0.58

Table 4. 6:Principal Components for Eight Agronomic Traits of Fifty Lowland<br/>Rice Cultivars Evaluated

	Lowiar	a Rice Cu	itivars Eva	luated			
	PH	TN	PL	PN	РХ	PW	DTF
PH	1.000						
TN	-0.254*	1.000					
PL	0.183	-0.043	1.000				
PN	0.044	-0.063	0.295*	1.000			
PX	0.070	-0.122	-0.078	-0.114	1.000		
PW	-0.023	-0.305*	0.109	-0.061	0.143	1.000	
DF	-0.122	-0.007	0.000	0.111	0.031	-0.102	1.000
GYLD	0.185	-0.086	-0.014	-0.240	-0.011	0.013	0.020

Table 4.7:Genotypic Correlation Coefficients for Eight Agronomic Traits of Fifty<br/>Lowland Rice Cultivars Evaluated

DTF Days to 50 % flowering, PH Plant height, TN Tiller number, PN Panicle number, PX

Panicle exertion, PW Panicle weight, GYLD Grain yield.

# 4.8: Genotypic Path Coefficients for Eight Agronomic Traits of Fifty Lowland Rice Cultivars Evaluated at Badeggi and Edozhigi 2017 rice growing season

The path coefficient analysis studied showed the direct and indirect contributions of yield attribute to yield with a positive residual value of 0.0291. The analysis revealed that plant height had the highest direct contribution to yield with 0.1906 followed by days to 50 % flowering (0.0751). While, panicle weight recorded the least direct contribution to yield (-0.0041) as shown in Table 4.8. The indirect contributions of the parameters evaluated to yield showed that plant height contributed highest via panicle length (0.0350), followed by panicle number through panicle exertion (0.0315).

## 4.9: Cluster analysis of morphological traits for grain yield

The cluster groups were five with random distribution of the genotypes. The cophenetic correlation coefficient was 0.578. Cluster one was the largest group with 37 cluster members. Cluster two and cluster four had one cluster member each. While, Cluster three and Cluster five had seven and four cluster members respectively. Cluster group two had the highest group average of tiller number (357.17), Members of cluster three recorded the highest group average number of panicle number (240.90), genotypes in cluster five have the highest average of plant height (98.89) and the highest yielding group with average group seed yield of (3543.251).

Lowianu Rice Cultivars Evaluated							
	PH	TN	PL	PN	РХ	PW	DF
PH	0.1906	-0.0483	0.0350	0.0084	0.0133	-0.0043	-0.0233
TN	0.0157	-0.0620	0.0027	0.0039	0.0076	0.0189	0.0004
PL	0.0046	-0.0011	0.0254	0.0075	-0.0020	0.0028	0.0000
PN	-0.0121	0.0173	-0.0812	-0.2757	0.0315	0.0169	-0.0306
PX	-0.0044	0.0077	0.0050	0.0072	-0.0633	-0.0090	-0.0020
PW	0.0001	0.0013	-0.0004	0.0003	-0.0006	-0.0041	0.0004
DF	-0.0092	-0.0005	0.0000	0.0083	0.0023	-0.0076	0.0751

Table 4.8.Genotypic Path Coefficients for Eight Agronomic Traits of Fifty<br/>Lowland Rice Cultivars Evaluated

Residual effect = 0.0291, **DF** Days to 50 % flowering, **PH** Plant height, **TN** Tiller number, **PN** Panicle number, **PX** Panicle exertion, **PW** Panicle weight.

Gi	Groups							
Parameters		Cluster I	Cluster II	Cluster III	Cluster IV	Cluster V		
Plant Height	Min	73.80	84.78	86.20	81.47	95.05		
(cm)	Max	98.74	84.78	100.85	81.47	104.07		
	Mean	89.28	84.78	94.29	81.47	98.89		
Number of	Min	194.67	357.17	190.17	246.00	202.00		
Tillers	Max	339.17	357.17	268.67	246.00	239.17		
	Mean	262.73	357.17	235.57	246.00	223.21		
Panicle Length	Min	19.79	24.38	22.62	25.41	23.77		
(cm)	Max	26.34	24.38	27.36	25.41	25.61		
	Mean	23.65	24.38	24.54	25.41	24.88		
Number of	Min	143.17	219.67	211.83	215.67	177.17		
Panicles	Max	244.50	219.67	278.00	215.67	203.33		
	Mean	205.63	219.67	240.90	215.67	188.12		
Panicle	Min	1.00	5.00	3.00	3.83	2.00		
Exertion	Max	6.33	5.00	6.33	3.83	5.67		
	Mean	4.09	5.00	4.29	3.83	4.63		
Panicle Weight	Min	25.83	23.17	25.83	38.17	28.00		
	Max	33.67	23.17	31.50	38.17	34.33		
	Mean	28.74	23.17	29.62	38.17	31.04		
Days to 50 %	Min	48.33	61.37	55.13	55.33	60.03		
Flowering	Max	76.10	61.37	76.30	55.33	63.73		
	Mean	62.74	61.37	64.72	55.33	61.45		
Grain Yield	Min	1791.00	2629.00	2279.00	1964.00	2836.00		
(kg/ha)	Max	3164.00	2629.00	2877.00	1964.00	4796.00		
	Mean	2536.95	2629.00	2558.71	1964.00	3543.25		
Number of Mem	nbers	37	1	7	1	4		
Cluster Members		G1 G10 G11 G12 G13 G15 G16 G17	G14	G20 G29 G3 G31 G32	G23	G4 G40 G47 G50		
		G18 G19 G2 G21		G43 G45		050		
		G22 G24 G25		0+5 0+5				
		G26 G27 G28 G30						
		G33 G34 G35 G36						
		G37 G38 G39 G41						
		G42 G44 G46						
		G48 G49 G5 G6 G7						
		G8 G9						
Cophenetic Co	rrelation	Coefficient = 0.578						

Table 11:	Membership Performance Summary of Fifty Lowland Rice Cultivars in Five Cluster
	Groups

#### **CHAPTER FIVE**

## 5.0 DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

### 5.1 Discussion

The major objective of any breeding programme is to produce quality and high yielding varieties for release to farmers. The requirement to achieving this goal is the presence of sufficient amount of genetic variability within genotypes in which desirable lines would be selected for further genetic manipulation that leads to the achievement of targeted objectives. With the desire to have sufficient amount of variability within genotypes. The result of analysis of variance showed that plant height, tiller number, panicle length, panicle number, panicle exertion, days to flowering and grain yield were significant in the two trials.

The highly significant genetic variation (P < 0.01) among the genotypes for days to 50 % flowering in this study is similar to those previously reported by Weiya *et al.* (2008), they observed variation in days to flowering of several genotypes and identified a regulatory gene responsible for variation in this physiological trait among rice genotypes. Variation among genotypes for this quantitative trait might be due to the genetic makeup of the genotype or interaction with the environment. The availability of early flowering and maturing genotypes are important for the avoidance of drought condition. The highly significant differences (P<0.01) among the accessions for tiller number in this finding is supported by that of Rahman *et al.* (2011).

So also, highly significant (P < 0.01) Variability among the accessions for this

quantitative trait based on the data analysis was in agreement with earlier findings of Zahid *et al.* (2005), they studied twelve (12) genotypes of coarse rice and reported highly significant variation for various morphological traits including number of panicles per plant. Similar findings were also made by Hassan *et al.* (2003); they concluded that genetic variation was responsible for the significant differences.

Analysis of variance for plant height that was found to be highly significant (P < 0.001) among the various accessions studied is in conformity with those of Kole and Hasib (2008). Hussain *et al.* (2005) found out that planting and sowing methods, transplanting date and soil condition affect plant height in rice. Abbasi *et al.* (1995) reported that 100 grain weight is another important yield attributing trait in rice. No significant (P < 0.01) variation was observed within the accessions studied for this trait. Result obtained from this study regarding 100 grain weight are similar to those of Ali *et al.* (2000), they found out that, difference in 100 grain weight among the accessions studied was due to grain size and shape. Highly significant difference observed among the genotypes for panicle exertion was in conformity with that of Sarawagi *et al.* (2013) who reported similar variation in rice genotypes for panicle exertion. Panicles enclosed in leaf sheath consume time in harvesting or processing as the panicles have to be removed from the sheath.

The Principal component analysis in this study reveals the total contribution of characters to the variation. The first four components accounted for 63.0 % of the total variation taking into account all the 8 quantitative traits studied. In the present study, it

can be deduced that days to 50 % flowering, panicle weight, panicle number, tiller number, plant height, grain yield, were the most important traits which accounted for much of the variability among the rice genotypes. These findings agree with Caldo *et al.* (1996). Correlation analyses revealed that, out of the eight (8) morphological characters; plant height, panicle weight, days to 50 % flowering showed positive association with grain yield. This result corroborates with the findings of Rasheed *et al.* (2002) and Girish *et al.* (2006) also reported the positive association of yield per with plant height at genotypic level. This implies that increase in plant height may increase grain yield (Hallauer and Miranda, 1988).

Cluster analysis is very useful in revealing complex relationships among populations of diverse origins in a more simplified manner. It is also effective in indicating accessions with useful traits belonging to different clusters for hybridization. The 50 genotypes in this study were classified into five main clusters at cophenetic percentage of 0.578 % based on morphological traits, which is an indication of genetic variation among the accessions. The variation observed among the genotypes suggests that morphological traits can reveal diversity existing among rice accessions. This is in agreement with earlier findings of Efisue *et al.* (2014), they reported that morphological traits can discriminate between rice genotypes.

Broad sense heritability estimates were high for days to flowering. This indicates that contribution of environmental conditions was relatively low for these traits. Low broad sense heritability estimate was observed for panicle length, grain yield per plant and panicle weight This shows that the environmental factors strongly influence this characters. Similar results were earlier reported by Mulugeta *et al.*, (2012) and Rafii *et al.*, (2014) who also reported low heritability for grain yield in his findings and the findings by Sathya and Jebaraj, (2013) who reported low heritability for 100 grain weight.

## 5.2 Conclusion

In most breeding programmes, morphological traits are always indicators for breeding objectives. The result of this study showed that members of cluster five in the dendograme ; Ebangichi, Guzan, Suleiman and YarYamidi showed the highest yield average, this revealed the relationship that could be used as bases for parental selection during breeding program. The positive correlation that existed between grain yield and plant height, grain yield and panicle weight, grain yield and days to 50 % flowering should be used as basis for improvement of the rice varieties cultivated in the lowland environment. Twenty one (21) genotypes out of fifty (50) genotypes evaluated recorded high mean value than the population mean. With the exception of FARO 15, FARO 17, FARO 24 and Waluye that recorded significantly (p<0.05) different over the check. All other genotypes were not statistically significant over the check. Whereas FARO 22 and FARO 52 has yield greater or equal to that of the check but there were no significant difference statistically. This variation that exist within some of the population studied provides opportunity for improvement.

# 5.3 **Recommendations**

Based on the results of the study, it is recommended that;

- 1. FARO 15, FARO17, FARO 24 and Waluye which out yielded the standard check could be subjected to further trial to ascertain their level of performance.
- 2. Accessions like FARO 22, FARO 52 and Jamila which showed desirable quantitative and qualitative traits in this study should be used for further rice improvement programmes by breeders.
- Breeders should also pay more attention on traits that showed significant positive association with grain yield such as plant height, panicle weight and days to 50 % flowering.
- Continuous evaluation of these genotypes should be done to broaden the genetic base of the species.

#### REFERENCES

- Abbasi, F. M., Sagar, M. A., Akram, M. & Ashraf, M. (1995). Agronomic and Quality Traits of some Elite Rice Genotypes. *Pakistan Journal of Scientific and Industrial Research* 38, 348-350.
- Africa Rice Center (WARDA). (2007). Africa Rice Trends: Overview of recent developments in the sub- Saharan Africa rice sector. Africa Rice center Brief. Cotonou, Benin: Africa Rice Center (WARDA). 10.
- Agriculture 2003-2004. Agricultural Biotechnology: Meeting the Needs of the Poor (www.fao.org/docrep/).
- Ahmad, M. (2017). Rice Production in Nigeria, Agric-news. Html (www. Premiumtimesng.com/ agriculture / 240287.
- Ali, S. S., Jafri, S. J. H., Khan, T. Z., Mahmood, A. & Butt M. A. (2000). Heritability of among Basmati and non-Basmati Rice Varieties using AFLP, ISSR and SSR markers. analysis for yield and its components in rice. *Asian Journal of Plant Sciences.*, 1(3), 241-244.
- Alvarado, R. & Hernaiz, S. (2007). Antecedentesgeneralessobre el Arroz en Chile," in Arroz Manejo Tecnológico, R. Alvarado, Ed., vol. 162 of Boletín INIA, p. 179, Instituto de InvestigacionesAgropecuarias INIA, Centro Regional de Investigación Quilamapu, Chillán, Chile.

Anonymous (2013). World rice production. www.advaceagriculturalpractice.in.

- Ashfaq, M., Khan, A.S., Khan, S.H.U. & Ahmad, R. (2012). Association of Various Morphological Traits with Yield and Genetic Divergence in Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *International Journal of Agricultural Biology*. 14 (1), 201-231.
- Atanda. O. A., Ayotade, R. A., Fagade, S. O., Awoderu, V. A. & Olufowote, J.O. (2012). Nigeria. In I. W. Buddenhagen and G.J. Persley, eds. Rice in Africa: Proceedings of a Conference held at the International Institute of Tropical Agriculture, Ibadan, Nigeria, 7-11 mar. 1977. Pp. 338-339.
- Azeez, M. A. & Shafi, M. (2013). Quality in Rice. Department of Agric. West Pakistani Technology B. G. De Los Reyes, S. J. Myers, & J. M. McGrath, "Differential induction of glyoxylate cycle enzymes by stress as a marker for seedling vigor in sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris*)," *Molecular Genetics and Genomics*, vol. 269, no. 5, Pp. 692–698, 2003.

- Babu, V. R., Shreya, K., Dangi, K. S., Usharani, G. and Nagesh, P, (2013). Evaluation of Popular Rice (*Oryza salivaL.*) Hybrids for Quantitative, Qualitative and Nutritional Aspects. *International Journal Science Research Public*, 3, 1-8.
- Bai, X. L., Luo, W. Yan, M. R., Kovi, W., Zhang, H. & Xing, Y. (2010). Genetic Dissection of Rice grain shape using a Recombinant inbred line Population derived from two Contrasting Parents and fine Mapping, a Pleiotropic Quantitative Trait locus qGL7. *Journal of Genetics* 11, 16.
- Baruah, A. R., Ishigo-Oka, N., & Adachi, M. (2009). Cold Tolerance at the early Growth stage in Wild and Cultivated Rice," *Euphytica*, (165) 3.459–470.
- Bashir, M. U., Akbar, N., Iqbal, A., Zaman, H. (2010). Effect of Different Sowing dates on Yield and YIELD components of direct seeded coarse Rice (*Oryza* sativa L). Pakistan Journal Agricultural Sciences., 47, 361-365.
- Bowman, J. L., & Eshed, Y. 2000. Formation and Maintenance of the Shoot Apical Meristems. *Trends in Plant Sciences*. 5, 110–115.
- Bozokalfa, M. K., Eşiyok, D. & Turhan, K. (2009). Patterns of Phenotypic Variation in a Germplasm Collection of Rice (*Capsicum annuum*) from Turkey. *Spanish Journal of Agricultural Research*, 7(1), 83-95.
- Bui, C. B & Nguyen, T. L. (2015). Using Molecular Markers in Study of Rice Genetic Diversity. Omonrice 7, 15-26.
- Burchi, F., Fanzo, J. and Prison, E. (2011). The Role of Food and Nutrition System approaches in tackling hidden hunger, *Research Public Health International Journal.*, 8 (2), 358-373.
- Caldo, R. A., Sebastian, L. S. & Hernandez, J. E. (1996). Morphology-based Genetic Diversity Analysis of Ancestral lines of Rice in Philippine Rice Cultivars. *Philippines Journal of Crop Science*, 21 (3), 86-92.
- Chakravarthi, K. B. & Naravaneni, R. (2014). SSR Marker based DNA Finger printing and Diversity Study in Rice (*Oryza sativa*. L) African journal of *Biotechnology* 5 (9), 684-688.
- Chang, T. T. (2012). The Origin, Evolution, Cultivation, Dissemination and Diversification of Asian and African Rice. *Euphytica*, 25, 425–441.
- (CIRAD) (2008). Quelle Strategic Pour la Filiere Rizicole?, Communication de Patricio Mendez Conference of the Nigerian Institution of Agricultural Engineers, Ilorin 26: 29-32. constraints in different agro ecological zones of Nigeria meterological Journal. 2 (1) p CW Smith, RH Dilday, eds. Rice. Origin. History. Technology. And production.

- Dauda, S. M. & Dzivama, A. U. (2004). Comparative Performance of a locally Developed Rice Thresher with an Imported Votex Rice Fan. Proceedings of the 5th International del Villar: Situation du Marche Mondial du riz, les NouvellesTendances et les perspectives, N'Djamena- Tchad, 5-6, 51.
- Dennis, J. V. (2016). Farmer Management of Rice Variety Diversity in Northern Thailand.
- Dingkuhn, M. (2014). Growth and Yield Potential of (*Oryza sativa* and *O. glaberrima*) Diversity and Relationships among Forty Rice (*Oryza saliva* L.) Accessions by Comparative Analysis of Morphological and RAPD data. 12p.
- Dourosti, H. (2005). Assessment of Genetic Diversity based on Agronomic Properties of Rice promising lines. M.Sc. thesis, Islamic Azad University, Karaj Branch, Iran. 67-69.
- Efisue, A. & Okhidievbie, O. (2011). Rice growing environments and biophysical constraints in different agro ecological zones of Nigeria *Meteorological Journal*, 2 (1) met. J. 2 (1), 938-943.
- Efisue, A. A., Umunna, B.C. & Orluchukwu, J. A. (2014). Effect of Yield Components on Yield Potential of some Lowland Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) in coastal region of Southern Nigeria. *Journal of plant Breeding and Crop science* 6 (9), 119-127.
- (FAO) Food & Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, (2012). Rome, Italy, Statistical Data Base. <u>http://faostat.fao.org</u>.
- (FAO) Food and Agriculture Organization (2002). FAO Statistical Databases. Available online at <u>http://apps.fao.org</u>.
- (FAO) Food and Agriculture Organization (2011). Rome Italy, Available online: <u>http://www.fao.org</u>.
- (FAO) Food and Agriculture Organization of the united Nations (2004). Species description (*Oryza sativa* L.).
- (FAO) Food and Agriculture Organization Statistic Department (2011). Annual Report 2010-2011.
- Farooq M. (2011). Rice Direct Seeding: Experiences, Challenges and Opportunities. Soil and Tillage *Research*.; 111, 87-98.
- Farrell, T. C., K. M. Fox, R. L. Williams, S. Fukai, & L. G. Lewin, (2006). Minimising Cold Damage during Reproductive Development among Temperate Rice Genotypes. Genotypic Variation and Flowering Traits related to Cold Tolerance Screening, *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, 57, 1, 89– 100.

- Flavel, R. B. (1991). Molecular Biology and Genetic Conservation Programs. *Biological Journal*. Lirmean Society 43, 73-80.
- Fujino, K., Sekiguchi, H. & T. Sato (2004). Mapping of Quantitative Trait Loci Controlling Low-temperature Germinability in Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.), *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 108, 5,794–799.
- Ghosh, S. C., & Sharma, D., (2012) Genetic parameters of agro-morpho-physiological traits in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Electronic Journal of plant Breeding*, 3 (1), 711-714.
- Girish, T. N., T. M. Gireesha, M. G. Vaishali, B. G. Hanamareddy & S. Hittalmani (2006). Response of New IR/Moroberekan Recombinant Inbred Population of Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) from *Indica x japonica* Cross for Growth and Yield Traits Under Aerobic Conditions. *Journal of Euphytica*, 152(2), 149-161.
- Godwin A., F. Lançon and O. Erenstein (2001). The Nigerian Rice Economy in A Competitive World: Constraints, Opportunities And Strategic Choices Nigeria's Rice Economy: State Of The Art 4.
- Guei, R. G., Sanni, K. A., Abamu, F. J. & Fawole, I. (2015). Genetic diversity of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Agronomie Africaine* 5, 17-28.
- Guo, L., Zhang Z. H. Zhuang, J. Y. (2013). Quantitative Trait Loci for Heading Date and Their Relationship with Genetic Control of Yield Traits in Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Rice Science*. 2013; 20, 1-12.
- (IRRI) International Rice Research Institute, (2013). Rice Knowledge Bank, Knowledgebank.irri.org.
- (IRRI) International Rice Research Institute, (2016). Rice almanac, 1993-2016. Manila Philippines.
- Hairmansis, A., Kustianto, B., Supartopo, F. & Suwarno, S. (2010). Correlation Analysis of Agronomic Characters and Grain Yield of Rice for Tidal Swamp Areas. *Indonessian Journal of Agricultural Science* 11 (1), 11-15.
- Hallauer, A. R. & Miranda, J. B. (1988). Quantitative Genetics in Maize Breeding. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition, Iowa State University Press pp.382.
- Hamdi, A., El-Ghareib, A. A., Shafey, S. A. & Ibrahim, M. A. M. (2017). Genetic Variability, Heritability and Expected Genetic advance for earliness and Seed Yield from Selection in Lentil. *Egypt Journal of Agricultural Research*. 81, 125–137.

- Hardcastle, J. E. Y. (2012). The Development of Rice Production and Research in the Federation of Nigeria. *Tropical Agriculture* (Trinidad), 36, 79-95.
- Hassan, G., Khan, N.U. & Khan, Q.N. (2003). Effect of Transplanting date on the Yield and Yield Components of different Rice Cultivars under High Temperature of D.I. Khan. *Science*, 16, 129-137.
- Hien, N. L., Sarhadi, W. A., Hirata, Y. & Oikawa, Y. (2012). Genetic Diversity of Morphological Responses and the Relation among Asia Aromatic Rice (*Oryza* sativa L.) Cultivars. Tropics 16, 343-355. http://www.fao.org/ag/htm.
- Huang, X., Kurata, N., Wei, X., Wang, Z., Wang, A., Zhao, Q., Zhao, Y. & Liu, K. (2012). A Map of Rice Genome Variation Reveals the Origin of Cultivated Rice. 490(7421, 497-501.
- Ikeda, M., Miura, K., Aya, K., Kitano, H. & Matsuoka, M. (2013). Genes Offering the Potential for Designing Yield-Related Traits in Rice. *Plant Biology*, Elsevier Ltd;;16: 213–220. doi: 10.1016/j.pbi.2013.02.002. pmid: 23466256.
- Ikhioya, S. & Oritse, G. (2013). Smuggled Rice Floods Nigerian Market, as Merchants Suffer Losses". Vanguard.
- Imolehin, E. D. & Wada A. C. (2012). Meeting Rice production and Consumption Demand of Nigeria with improved Technologies, international rice commission News Letters: 49 FAO Rome.
- Imolehin, E. D. & Wada, A. C. (2012). Meeting the Rice Production and Consumption Demand of Nigeria with Improved Technologies. National Cereal Research Institute, Badeggi, Improvement of *Oryza sativa*". ResearchGate. 89 (25). ISSN 0011-3891. *International Journal of Botany*, 5 (1), 112-115.
- Iqbal, M., K. Hayat, R. S. A. Khan, A. Sadiq, & Islam, N. (2006). Correlation and Path Coefficient Analysis for Earliness and Yield Traits in Cotton (*G. hirsutum* L.). Asian Journal of Plant Science. 5, 341-344.
- Ismaila, U., Gana, A. S., Tswanya, N. M. and Dogara, D. (2010). Cereals Production in Nigeria. Problems, Constaints and Opportunities for Betterment. *Africam Journal of Agricultural Research*, 5(12), 1341-1350.
- Isong, A., Eka, M. J. & Nwankwo, I. I. M. (2013). Correlations and Path Analysis of Yam *Dioscorearotundata*Poir) yield and yield Components. *International Journal of* Applied Research and Technology, 2(11), 65 – 71.
- Judith, A. C. (2004), With Grains in Her Hair': Rice in Colonial Brazil"(PDF), Slavery and Abolition, Frank Cass, London, 25 (1), 938-943.

- Julfiquar, A.W., Virmani, S. S., Haque, M. M., Mazid M. A. & Kamal, M.M. (2006). Hybrid Rice in Bangladesh: Opportunities and Challenges. Proceedings of the International Rice Research Conference on Rice Research for Food Security and Poverty Alleviation, (RRFSPA'06), International Rice Research Institute, Los Banos, Philippines.
- Juliano, B. O., Bautista, G. M., Lugay, J. C. & Reyes, A. C. (2013). Studies on Physico-chemical Properties of Rice. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 12, 131-138.
- Khan, A. S., Imran, M. & Ashfaq, M. (2009). Estimation of Genetic Variability and Correlation for Grain Yield Components in Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Amercian-Eurasian Journal of Agriculture and Environmental Science*, 6 (5), 585-590
- Khush, G. S. (2014). Origin, Dispersal, Cultivation and Variation of Rice. Plant Molecular Biology.
- Kole, P. C. & Hasib, K. M. (2008). Correlation and Regression Analysis in Scented Rice. *Madras Agriculture Journal*, 95 (1-6), 178-182.
- Krishna, T. & Nidhi, K. (2014). To Study the Agro-morphological Variation and Genetic Variability in Rice Germplasm. *Middle-East Journal of Scientific Research*, 20 (2), 218-224.
- Kumar, R & Sharma, S. (2015). Allometric Model for Non destructive Leaf Area Estimation in Clary sage (Salvia sclarea L.). *Photosynthetica*, 48(2), 313–316.
- Kurlovich, B. S. (1998). Species and Intraspecific Diversity of White, Blue and Yellow Lupins. *Plant genetic Resource*, 115, 23-32.
- Lafarge, T. A., Broad, I. J. & Hammer, G.L. (2015). Tillering in Grain Sorghum over a Wide Range of Population Densities: Identification of a common hierarchy for tiller emergence, leaf area development and fertility. *Annals of Botany*, 90, 87-98.
- Liaqat, M., Imtiaz, R., Ahmed, I., Muhammad, R., S. Ahmad, A. Qayyum, Rafiq, M., Bibi, A. & Hussain N. (2015). Correlation and Path Analysis for Genetic Divergence of Morphological and Fiber Traits in Upland Cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum* L.). *International Journal of Agriculture & Agricultural Research*. 7(4), 86-94
- Linares, O. F. (2016) African Rice (*Oryza glaberrima* L.) History and Future Potential. *Proceeding of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99 (25): 16360- 16365. doi:10.1073/pnas.252604599. Lirmean Society 43, 73-80.

- Linares, O. F. (2016) African Rice (*Oryza glaberrima* L.) History and Future Potential. *Proceeding of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99 (25): 16360- 16365. doi:10.1073/pnas.252604599. Lirmean Society 43, 73-80.
- Linares, O. F. (2016) African Rice (*Oryza glaberrima* L.) History and Future Potential. *Proceeding of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99 (25): 16360- 16365. doi:10.1073/pnas.252604599. Lirmean Society 43, 73-80.
- Linares, O. F. (2016) African Rice (*Oryza glaberrima* L.) History and Future Potential. *Proceeding of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99 (25): 16360- 16365. doi:10.1073/pnas.252604599. Lirmean Society 43:73-80.
- Liu, K. & Muse, S. V. (2015). Power Marker: An Intregrated Analysis Environment for Genetic Marker Analysis. *Bioinformatics*, 21 (9): 2128-2129.
- Liu, T., Shao, D & Kovi, M. R. (2010). Mapping and Validation of Quantitative Trait Loci for Spikelets per Panicle and 1,000-grain weight in Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Theoretical Applied Genetics*, 120, 933-942.
- Liu, Y., Xu, J., Ding, Y., Wang, Q., Li, G & Wang, S. (2011) Auxin Inhibits the Outgrowth of tiller buds in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) by down regulating OsIPT Expression and Cytokininbiosynthesis in nodes. *Australian Journal of Crop Science*, 5(2), 169-174.
- Longtau, S. R. (2003). Multi-Agency Partnerships in West African Agriculture: A review and description of rice production systems in Nigeria. Document prepared by the Oversea Development Institute (ODI) London, Pp. 1-36.
- Lopez S, Joseph K (2008). TaqMan based real time PCR method for quantitative detection of basmati rice adulteration with non-basmati rice. European Food Res. Technol. 227(2), 19-622.
- M. G. Ali, R. E. L. Naylor, & Matthews, S. (2006). Distinguishing the Effects of Genotype and Seed Physiological Age on Low Temperature Tolerance of Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.), *Experimental Agriculture*, 42, 3, 337–349, *Madras Agricultural Journal*, 60(9-12): 1093-96.
- Malaa. (2011). Strenthening the Availability and Access to Rice Statistics Cameroon: Africa Rice Center Cotonou, Benin.
- Mc Couch, S. & Doerge, R.W. (2018). QTL Mapping in Rice. *Trends in Genetics*. 11: 482–487. 10.1016/S0168-9525(00)89157-X pmid:8533164.
- Megan, S. & Mc Couch, S. (2014). The Complex History of the Domestication of Rice. *Annals of Botany*, Pp. 1-7.

- Mohaddesi, A., Abbasian, A., Bakhshipoor, S. and Mohammad, S. M. (2010). Study of Effects of Nitrogen Fertilizer and Planting Distance on Yield and Yield Components of Promising Rice Lines. *Journal of crop Ecophysiology*, 2 (3), 198-203.
- Molina, J., Sikora, M., Garud, N., Flowers, J.M., Rubinstein, S., Reynolds, A., Huang, P., Jackson, S., Schaal, B. A., Bustamante, C. D., Boyko, A.R. & Purugganan, M.D. (2011). Molecular evidence for a Single Evolutionary Origin of Domesticated Rice. *National Academy of Sciences*, 108 (20), 51-83.
- Molina, J., Sikora, M., Garud, N., Flowers, J.M., Rubinstein, S., Reynolds, A., Huang, P., Jackson, S., Schaal, B. A., Bustamante, C. D., Boyko, A.R. & Purugganan, M.D. (2011). Molecular evidence for a Single Evolutionary Origin of Domesticated Rice. *National Academy of Sciences*, 108 (20), 51-83.
- Morishima H, Oka, H. I. (2016). Phylogenetic Differentiation of Cultivated Rice. Japanese Journal for Breeding.
- Morishima, H., Shinamoto, Y., Sano, Y. & Sato, Y. I. (2016). Observations on Wild and Cultivated Rices in Thailand for Ecological-genetic Study. Report of study tour in 1983. Contribution, National Institute of Genetics no. 1621. Mishima 411, Japan. 86 p. 35-44.
- Muhammad, S., Shahid, A. K., Haris, K., Javed, I., Ali, M., Noor, S & Syed, M. A. S. (2015). Characterization of Rice (*Oryza Sativa* L.) Germplasm through Various Agro-Morphological Traits, *Science Agriculture*, 9 (2), 83-88.
- Mulugeta, S., Sentayehu, A & Kassahun, B. (2012). Genetic variability, Heritability, Correlation Coefficient and Path Analysis for Yield Related Traits in Upland Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Journal of Plant Sciences*, 7 (1), 13-2.
- Norman, J. C. & Otoo, E. (2003). Rice development strategies for food security in Africa. In Proc. 20th Session of the International Rice Commission, Bangkok, Thailand, July 2002. Nutritional Aspects. International Journal Science Research, Public, 3, 1-8.
- Ojo, D. K., Ogunbayo, S. A., Sanni, A. K. and Guei R. G. (2009). The Determination of Diversity and Relationships among Forty Rice (*Oryza saliva* L.) Accessions by Comparative Analysis of Morphological and RAPD data. 12.
- Oka, H. I. (2012). Origin of Cultivated Rice. Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands. pp.5-18.
- Ologbon, O. A. C., Ikheloa, E. E. & Akerele, E. O. (2012). Adoption of Ofada'rice Variety and *Oryza* species and their Cultivated Relatives. *Japanese Journal of Genetics* 45, 371-385.

- Peltonen, S.P. & Jarvinen, P. (2015). Seeding Rate Effects on Tillering, Grain Yield, and Yield Components of Oat at High Latitude. *Field Crops Research* 40: 49-56. PMB8, Niger State, Nigeria.ppl-11. Polymorphism Scored at 40 Isozyme Loci., 57, 25-57.
- Prakash, M., Anandan, A. & Kumar, S.B. (2011). Varietal variations in flag leaf area and yield in mutant lines of PY5 rice. *Karmataka Journal of Agricultural Science* 24 (4), 525-526. Problems, Constaints and Opportunities for Betterment. *Africam Journal of Agriculture*.
- Rafii, M. Y., Zakiah, M.Z., Asfaliza, R., Iffah Haifaa, M. D., Latif, M. A & Malek, M.A. (2014). Grain Quality Performance and Heritability Estimation in Selected F1 Rice Genotypes. *Sains Malaysiana*, 43(1), 1–7.
- Rahim, S. H. (2005). Study of grain yield stability in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) promising genotypes. *Iranian Journal of Crop Science*, 7 (2), 112-122.
- Rahman, M. M., Hussain, A., Sayed, M. A., Ansari, A. & Mahmud, M. A. A. (2011). Comparison among clustering in multivariate analysis of rice using morphological traits, physiological traits and simple sequence repeat markers. *Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences*, 11 (6): 876-882.
- Ramanjinappa, V., Arunkumar, K.H., Hugar, A. & Shashibhaskar, M.S. 2011. Genetic variability in okra (*Abelmoschus esculentus* L. Moench.). *Plant Architecture*, 11, 435437.
- Rasheed, M. S., H. A. Sadaqat and M. Babar (2002). Correlation and path co-efficient analysis for yield and its components in rice. *Asian* Journal of Plant Sciences, 1(3), 241-244.
- Ravi, M., Geethanjali, S., Sameeyafarheen, F. & Maheswaran, M. (2003). Molecular marker based genetic diversity analysis in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) using RAPD and SSR markers. *Euphytica*, 133, 243-252.
- Saini, N., Jain, N., Jain, S. & Jain, R. K. (2016). Assessment of Genetic Diversity within and among Basmati and non-Basmati Rice Varieties using AFLP, ISSR and SSR markers. *Euphytica*, 140, 133-146.
- Sanni, K. A., Ojo, D. K., Adebisi, M. A., Somado, E. A., Ariyo, O. J., Sie, M., Akintayo, I., Tia, D. D., Ogunbayo, S.A., Cisse, B., Sikirou, M. and Adekoya, M. A. (2009).
  Ratooning Potential of Interspecific NERICA Rice varieties (*Oryza glaberrima* x *Oryza sativa*). *International Journal of Botany*, 5 (1), 112-115.

- Sarawgi, A.K., Subba-Rao, L.V., Parikh, M., Sharm, B. & Ojha, G.C. (2013). Assessment of the variability of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) germplasm using agro-morphological characterization. *Journal of Rice Research*, 6 (1), 152-178.
- Sarla, N.; Swamy, B. & Mallikarjuna, P. (2014-09-25). "Oryzaglaberrima: A Source for the Improvement of Oryza sativa". ResearchGate. 89 (25). ISSN 0011-3891.
- Satake, T. (1976). Determination of the Most Sensitive Stage to Steriletypecool injury in Rice plants," *Bulletin of the Hokkaido National Agricultural Experiment Station*, 113, 1–33, Technical efficiency of rice-based production systems in Ogun state, Nigeria (PDF). World Journal of Agricultural Sciences. 8 (6): 624-631. Thesis, Cornell University. USA.
- Sathya, R & Jebaraj, S. (2013). Heritability and genetic advance estimates from three line rice hybrids under aerobic condition. *International Journal of Agricultural Science and Research*. 3, 69-74.
- Senapati, B. K., Pal, S., Roy, S.D. & De, K. (2009). Selection Criteria for High Yield in Early Segregating Generation of Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) Crosses. Journal of Crop and Weed 5 (2), 12-14.
- Sharief, A. E., El-Kalla, S. E., El-Kassaby, A. T., Ghonema, M. H. & Abdo, G.M.Q. (2015). Effect of bio-chemical fertilization and time of nutrient foliar application on growth, yield and yield components of rice. *Journal of Agronomy* 5 (2), 212-219.
- Sharma, S. D., Tripathy S. & Biswal, J. (2012. Origin of *Oryza sativa* and its Ecotypes pp: 350-369. In: J. S. Nanda (ed.). *Rice Breeding and Genetics*, Oxford & IBH Pub. Co., New Delhi.
- Shi, C., Wu, J. & Wu, P. (2005). Genetic Analysis of Developmental Behaviour for Amylase Content in Filling Process of Rice. *Journal of Agricultural science*, 85, 791-796.
- Shimono, H., Hasegawa, T. & Iwama, K. (2002). Response of Growth and Grain Yield in Paddy Rice to cool Water at Different Growth Stages, *Field Crops Research*, (73) 2-3, 67–79.
- Singh, B. N., Fagade, S., Ukwungwu, M. N., Williams, C. S., Jagtap, S. S., Oladimeji, O., Sivasubramanian, S. & Madhava, M. (2010). Genotypic and Phenotypic Variability in Rice. *Madras Agricultural Journal*, 60 (9-12), 1093-96.
- Sohrabi M, Rafii, M. Y, Hanafi, M. M., Siti, N., Akmar, A. & Latif, M. A. (2012). Genetic Diversity of Upland Rice Germplasm in Malaysia based on Quantitative Traits. *Scientific World Journal*.

- Tiamiyu, S. A., Usman, S. A., Gbanguba, A. U., Ukwungu, M. N. & Ochigbo, A. A. (2010). Assessment of Quality Management Techniques: Toward Improving Competitiveness of Nigerian Rice.
- (UNCTAD) United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (2015). Rice characteristics. Communicating Market Information in the Commodities Area. unctad.org//en//docs//ecn162010d4enpdf upland Rice Cultivars and their Interspecific Progenies. Field Crops Research.
- USDA. (2008). United State Development of Agriculture. Annual Report for 2007. United States Department of Agriculture, Washington, USA. 25-26.
- Vaughan, D. A. & Morishima, H. (2012). Biosystematics of the genus *Oryza*. Chapter 1.2.
   In: CW Smith, RH Dilday, eds. Rice. Origin. History. Technology. And production. John Wiley and Sons Inc., Hoboken, New Jersey, Pp. 27-65.
- Vaughan, D. A. & Morishima, H. (2014). Biosystematics of the genus *Oryza*. Chapter 1.2.
   In: CW Smith, RH Dilday, eds. Rice. Origin. History. Technology. And production. John Wiley and Sons Inc., Hoboken, New Jersey, Pp. 27-65.
- Verica, I., Natalija, M., Dobre, A & Danica, A. (2013). Inheritance of grain weight per plant in rice, Science & Technologies, 3(6), 29-33.
- Wadan, M. & Zada, A. (2002). Genetic Variability of Different Plant Yield Characters in Rice. Sarhad Journal of Agriculture 18 (2): 251-255.), 938-943.
- Wang, X., Sun, C., Cai, H. & Zhaung, J. (2014). "The Genome Sequence of African rice (*Oryza glaberrima*) and Evidence for Independent Domestication. Nature Genetics. doi:10.1038/ng.3044.
- Wang, X., Sun, C., Cai, H. & Zhaung, J. (2014). "The Genome Sequence of African rice (*Oryzaglaberrima*) and Evidence for Independent Domestication. Nature Genetics. doi:10.1038/ng.3044.
- Weiya, X., Yongzhong, X., Xiaoyu, W., Yu, Z., Weijiang, T., Lei, W. & Hongju, Z. (2008). Natural variation in Ghd7 an Important Regulator of Heading Date and Yield Potential in Rice. *Nature Genetics* 40: 761-767. Wiley and Sons Inc., Hoboken, New Jersey, Pp. 27-65.
- Wu, G.W., Wilson, L.T. & McClung, A.M. (2015). Contribution of rice tillers to dry matter accumulation and yield. *Agronomy Journal*, 90, 317-323.
- Xue, D., Chen, M., Zhou, M., Chen, S., Mao, Y. & Zhang, G. (2008). QTL Analysis of Flag Leaf in Barley (Hordeum Vulgare) for Morphological Traits and Chlorophyll Content. *Journal of Zhejiang University of Science*, 9 (12), M.D.,

Wadan, M. & Zada, A. (2002). Genetic Variability of Different Plant Yield Characters in Rice. Sarhad Journal of Agriculture 18 (2), 251-255.

- Yang, X.C., and Hwa, C.M. (2008). Genetic modification of plant architecture and variety improvement in rice. *Journal of Heredity*, 101, 396-404.
- Yano, M., Kojima, S., Takahashi, Y., Lin, H.X & Sasaki, T. (2001). Genetic control of flowering time in rice, a short-day plant. *Plant Physiology*, 127, Pp. 1425–1429 yield and yield components of rice. *Pakistan Journal of Agricultural Research*, 16: 89–91.
- Yoshida, S. (2008). Fundamentals of rice crop science. International Rice Research Institute, Manila, Philippines.
- Zahid, A.M., Akhtar, M., Anwar, M. & Adil, J. (2005). Genotypic and Phenotypic, Correlation and Path Analysis in Coarse Grain Rice. *Proceeding of the International Seminar on Rice Crop. Rice Research Institute, 2-3* October, 2005, Kala Shah Kau, Pakistan.
- Zhang, M., Guo, B. & Peng, Z. (2005). Genetic Effects on Grain Characteristics of Indica Black Rice and Their Uses on Indirect Selections for Some Mineral Element Contents in Grains. *Genetic Research on Crop Evolution*, 52, 1121-1128.
- Zhou, L., Zeng, Y. & Hu, G. (2012). Characterization and Identification of Cold Tolerant Near-isogenic Lines in Rice, *Breeding Science*, 62,196–201.